1980

Committee of Consumer Services; Parowan Valley Pumpers association, Cedar Valley Pumpers association and Beryl Pumpers association; Enterprise Valley Pumpers, Inc. v. Public Service Commission of Utah; Milly O. Bernard, Chairman; Kenneth Rigtrup, Commissioner; and Pavid R. Irvine, Commissioner : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellants seek refund of the amount of the increase in rates for the period February 18, 1977 through May 23, 1978, granted C.P. National Corporation (an electric utility) pursuant to a February 18, 1977, order of the Public Service Commission which was subsequently reversed and remanded by the Utah Supreme Court on December 5, 1978. (Parowan Pumpers Ass'n. v. Public Service Com'n., 586 P.2d 407)

DISPOSITION BEFORE
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

The Public Service Commission denied the requested refund.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek an order of this court requiring the Public Service Commission to determine the amount of the refund and to require C.P. National Corporation to refund said amount to the persons entitled thereto as required by Section 54-7-17(4), U.C.A. 1953.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In case no. 76-023-04 before the Public Service Commission, C.P. National Corporation (then California Pacific Utilities, hereinafter "C.P.", real party in interest herein) applied for an increase in the rates charged to its customers to recover, inter alia, annual rental expenses for a transmission line owned by Utah Power and Light Company. The transmission line had been constructed by Utah Power and Light Company and part of its capacity was to be used by C.P. to transmit power purchased from Utah Power and Light Company to C.P.'s customers. The line was constructed at an approximate cost of \$4,400,000. The rental contract provided that C.P. pay Utah Power and Light Company rental expenses of \$856,910 per year over a 45 year period.

A reason advanced by respondent for requiring the new transmission line was the obligation of C.P. to wheel power for the United States Bureau of Reclamation.

The Parowan Pumpers Association appealed the order of the

Public Service Commission granting the increase for which refund is now requested. A stay of the effect of the order was not obtained, nor was a "suspending bond" filed with the Supreme Court. In the decision in that case, this court summarized the facts as follows:

After a number of public hearings on the proposed rate increase, the Commission found that both the wheeling agreement and the UP&L contract were required by law to be submitted to the Commission for its approval; that neither contract had been submitted, and had never been approved; that neither contract was in the best interest of the public or of the customers of Cal-Pac; that had Cal-Pac not been wheeling power for the Bureau the construction of this new transmission line would not have been necessary; that the Commission had jurisdiction over the rates charged for all intrastate utilities including the wheeling rates; and that the Commission had the power to modify or amend the contracts.

In its order, the Commission nevertheless granted 53.03% of the requested increase and ordered Cal-Pac to negotiate with the Bureau for an increase in the wheeling rate.

The Commission's order is not supported by its findings, and in fact is hostile to them. The findings and order are irreconcilable and that irreconcilability is fatal. The Commission found that the UP&L contract was not in the public interest but based a rate increase on the terms of that contract. The Commission found that the construction of the transmission line was not a necessary expenditure for the purpose of supplying service to the customers of Cal-Pac but granted an increase which requires those customers to pay 53% of the cost of that construction. Also there is no finding that the increase granted is reasonable; on the contrary, the implication of the findings is that the increase is not reasonable.

As we are unable to correlate the findings with the Commission's order, we reverse and remand the case to the Commission to take

such action, including further hearings, if necessary, as it deems advisable for the purpose of achieving a harmonious relationship between its findings and order.
(Parowan Pumpers Ass'n. v. Public Service Com'n.,
586 P.2d 407)

Upon remand, both the Parowan Pumpers Ass'n. and the Committee of Consumer Services (Appellants) petitioned the Public Service Commission for an order requiring C.P. to refund to its Utah jurisdiction customers an amount equal to the new revenue collected from those customers pursuant to the reversed order of February 18, 1977. The period subject to the requested refund extends from February 18, 1977 to May 23, 1978, the date on which a new order establishing rates for respondent's Utah customers was entered in case no. 77-023-08. (R-123)

After consolidating case no. 76-023-04 with cases 77-023-05 and 77-023-08, the Public Service Commission proceeded to hear evidence on some of the issues presented in those cases.

Thereafter, the Commission entered its "Supplemental Report and Order" dated January 11, 1980, in case no. 76-023-04. In this "Supplemental Report and Order" the Commission determined that its reversed Order of February 18, 1977, "was inartfully drawn and was hastily issued under the pressures of a heavy caseload of hearings and paper work." (R-124, para. 4 of Findings of Fact)

Having previously entered a finding that the rental expense contract was not in the public interest, the Public Service Commission in its "Supplemental Report and Order" made a finding that the rental expense contract was in the public interest. (R-124, para. 5 of Findings of Fact)

Based on this finding, the Commission "amended" its reversed order of February 18, 1977, "consistent" with its new finding that the rental expense contract was in the public interest. (R-125, Conclusions of Law). The rates established by the "amended" reversed order were then affirmed and the petition for refund was denied. (R-125, 126, of the Order).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LEGISLATURE HAS PROVIDED FOR REFUND TO CUSTOMERS OF REVENUES COLLECTED BY A PUBLIC UTILITY PURSUANT TO AN INVALID ORDER OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION.

It is the contention of appellants that the Public Service Commission by state law had no alternative but to order a refund of revenues collected by C.P. pursuant to an order which was subsequently reversed by the Supreme Court.

Section 54-7-17, U.C.A. 1953, specifically provides that revenues collected by a public utility under authority of an invalid order of the Public Service Commission are to be refunded to the customers from whom they are collected. This, and Section 54-7-16 U.C.A. 1953, set forth the mechanics of obtaining such a refund. Application is made to the Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari (54-7-16). Pending the determination of the writ, the Supreme Court may stay or suspend the appealed order and may require that the disputed revenues be impounded by the court or

placed in a bank or trust company. When the Supreme Court has made its final decision (and in the event the appeal is successful the monies collected by the public utility under authority of the invalid order, together with interest if the disputed funds have been impounded in a bank or trust company, are to be refunded by order of the Public Service Commission to the persons from whom they were collected.

The pertinent provisions contained in the indicated subsections of Section 54-7-17 are as follows (we reprinted the entire Section 54-7-17 for the convenience of the court at the end of the argument on this Section):

(1) The pendency of a writ of review shall not of itself stay or suspend the operation of the order or decision of the commission, . . .

(1) during the pendency of such a writ the Supreme Court in its discretion may stay or suspend, in whole or in part, the operation of the commission's order. . .

(2) the order suspending the same shall contain a specific finding. . .that great or irreparable damage would otherwise result to the petitioner. . .

(3) In case the order or decision of the commission is stayed or suspended, the order of the court shall not become effective until a suspending bond shall first have been executed and filed. . . .

(3) The Supreme Court, in case it stays or suspends the order or decision of the commission in any matter affecting rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges or classifications, shall also by order direct the public utility affected to pay into court from time to time, there to be impounded until the final decision of the case, or into some bank or trust company paying interest on deposits, under such conditions as the court may

prescribe, all sums of money which it may collect from any person in excess of the sum such person would have been compelled to pay, if the order or decision of the commission had not been stayed or suspended.

(4) Upon the final decision by the Supreme Court, all monies which the public utility may have collected pending the appeal in excess of those authorized by such final decision together with interest in case the court ordered the deposit of such monies in a bank or trust company, shall be promptly paid to the persons entitled thereto in such manner and through such methods of distribution as may be described by the commission. (emphasis added)

Section 54-7-17 makes it obligatory that a refund be ordered in this matter. An order of the Public Service Commission authorizing an increase in rates was "reversed" by the Supreme Court. Revenues collected by C.P. pursuant to that invalid order should be "promptly paid to the persons entitled thereto in such manner and through such methods of distribution as may be described by the commission." On remand, the Public Service Commission committed error in failing to comply with the requirements of this subsection (4) of Section 54-7-17. The entire text of Section 54-7-17 is as follows:

Stay pending—Conditions—Procedure—
Bond—Reparations.— (1) The pendency of a writ of review shall not of itself stay or suspend the operation of the order or decision of the commission, but during the pendency of such writ the Supreme Court in its discretion may stay or suspend, in whole or in part, the operation of the commission's order or decision.

(2) No order so staying or suspending an order or decision of the commission shall be made by the Supreme Court otherwise than upon three days' notice and after hearing, and, if

the order or decision of the commission is suspended, the order suspending the same shall contain a specific finding, based upon evidence submitted to the court and identified by reference thereto, that great or irreparable damage would otherwise result to the petitioner, and specifying the nature of the damage.

(3) In case the order or decision of the commission is stayed or suspended, the order of the court shall not become effective until a suspending bond shall first have been executed and filed with and approved by the commission (or approved, on review, by the Supreme Court) payable to the state of Utah, and sufficient in amount and security to ensure the prompt payment by the party petitioning for the review of all damages caused by the delay in the enforcement of the order or decision of the commission, and of all moneys which any person or corporation may be compelled to pay, pending the review proceedings, for transportation, transmission, product, commodity or service in excess of the charges fixed by the order or decision of the commission, in case said order or decision is sustained. The Supreme Court, in case it stays or suspends the order or decision of the commission in any matter affecting rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges, or classifications, shall also by order direct the public utility affected to pay into court from time to time, there to be impounded until the final decision of the case, or into some bank or trust company paying interest on deposits, under such conditions as the court may prescribe, all sums of money which it may collect from any person in excess of the sum such person would have been compelled to pay, if the order or decision of the commission had not been stayed or suspended.

(4) In case the Supreme Court stays or suspends any order or decision lowering any rate, fare, toll, rental, charge or classification, the commission upon the execution and approval of such suspending bond shall forthwith require the public utility affected, under penalty of the immediate enforcement of the order or decision of the commission pending the review and notwithstanding the suspending order, to keep such

accounts, verified by oath, as may in the judgment of the commission suffice to show the amounts being charged or received by such public utility pending the review in excess of the charges allowed by the order or decision of the commission, together with the names and addresses of the persons to whom overcharges will be refundable, in case the charges made by the public utility pending the review are not sustained by the Supreme Court. The court may from time to time require such party petitioning for a review to give additional security or to increase the said suspending bond whenever in the opinion of the court the same may be necessary to ensure the prompt payment of such damages and such overcharges. Upon the final decision by the Supreme Court all moneys which the public utility may have collected pending the appeal in excess of those authorized by such final decision, together with interest in case the court ordered the deposit of such moneys in a bank or trust company, shall be promptly paid to the persons entitled thereto in such manner and through such methods of distribution as may be prescribed by the commission. If any such moneys shall not have been claimed by the persons entitled thereto within one year from the final decision of the Supreme Court, the commission shall cause notice to such persons to be given by publication, once a week for two successive weeks, in a newspaper of general circulation printed and published in the city and county of Salt Lake, and in such other newspaper or newspapers as may be designated by the commission; said notice to state the names of the persons entitled to such moneys and the amount due each person. All moneys not claimed within three months after the publication of such notice shall be paid by the public utility under the direction of the commission into the state treasury for the benefit of the general fund. (parts underlined are those quoted above)

POINT II.

THE DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT "REVERSING AND REMANDING" THE ORDER OF THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION WAS A "FINAL DECISION" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 54-7-17(4)

Appellants contend that the decision of this court of December 5, 1978, reversing the order of the Public Service Commission of February 18, 1977, was a "final decision" as contemplated

by Section 54-7-17(4), and required the commission to make a refund to customers of C.P. of revenues collected pursuant to that reversed order.

As set forth above, Section 54-7-17(4) provides for a refund of utility revenues collected pursuant to an invalid order of the Public Service Commission. This refund is to be made "upon the final decision by the Supreme Court." The meaning of the term "final decision" in that statute has been construed by this court in the cases of Mt. States Tel. & Tel. v. Public S. Com'n., 142 P.2d 873, and Mt. States Tel. & Tel. v. Public Service Commission, 155 P.2d 184, to mean the opinion by the Supreme Court on the writ of review and not the decision of the entire controversy.

In the first Mt. States Tel. & Tel. case, the Public Service Commission had entered an order reducing toll rates. Mt. States appealed, filed a petition for a stay of the commission's order and posted the required bond. All disputed sums collected by Mt. States were impounded. On appeal, the court said:

The order of the Commission must be set aside and the matter remanded to the Commission for a determination as to what would be a reasonable and just rate for intrastate toll service. (Mt. States Tel. & Tel. v. Public Ser. Com'n., 142 P.2d 873)

On remand, Mt. States requested that the Commission release to Mt. States the monies in the impounded fund. In answer, the commission contended that the court had merely set aside the commission's order and sent the case back to it for further consideration and proceedings, that any further hearing was merely a continuation of the original case, and that there had been no "final decision" within the purview of Section 76-6-17 U.C.A. 1943 (now

The refusal of the Commission to release the impounded fund led to the second Mt. States Tel. & Tel. case. The precise issue was the meaning of "final decision" in the refund statute. In holding that "final decision" referred to the decision of the Supreme Court on the writ of review, only, and not to the determination of the entire controversy, the court was addressing a situation in which the utility was appealing and had obtained the impounding of funds. However, its interpretation of the law is pertinent. It said:

(8) If the foregoing analysis of the statute be valid, then any contention to the effect that the provision in subsection (3) of Sec. 76-6-17 that the money be "impounded until the final decision of the case," means that it be held until the final decision of the controversy must fail. It is clear to us beyond doubt that such words mean until the final decision of the supreme court. The words "final decision of the case" themselves mean, without any contextual modification, the case in the supreme court—that case or proceeding initiated by petition for a writ of review and concluded by decision of this court.

(9,10) But the contention is made that this court did in fact remand the case to the Commission "for a determination as to what would be a reasonable and just rate for intra-state toll service" and hence that the case is not concluded. The remand, however, was obviously merely formal. Ample authority exists in the Commission to determine reasonable rates. The authority comes from the legislature not from this court. It must be clear that we did not thus offhandedly assume authority which this court has consistently asserted was not by the legislature conferred upon it. Nor does the fact that by the provisions of Sec. 76-3-1, U.C.A. 1943, every unjust and unreasonable charge made by a

utility for services is prohibited and made unlawful, confer authority upon this court to modify an order of the Commission or to uphold an order in part and set it aside in part. This for the reason that the determination of whether a rate or charge is unreasonable or unjust is placed by law in the Commission and not in the courts.

* * *

But in the instant case the question of the disposition of the fund does not hinge alone upon the limited power of review of the order of the Commission. That which prevents us from holding the fund and subsequently distributing it as equity dictates, is the explicit mandate of the legislature, unless it be held that despite such mandate we may nevertheless exercise such jurisdiction. From the analysis heretofore made of the statute in question it seems clear that the legislative intent is: (1) That the fund be made up of the amounts collected by the utility, pending the review, in excess of those fixed by the order of the Commission under review; (2) that upon decision by this court setting aside or affirming the Commission, no further payments are to be made into the fund; (3) that the moneys impounded are to be paid to those entitled thereto, upon final decision by this court; (4) that such moneys are to be refunded to the rate payer only in case the order or decision of the Commission is affirmed; (5) that the utility has collected no "overcharge" if the order or decision of the Commission be set aside; (6) that if there be no "overcharge" there is no fund to distribute. If such be the legislative intent then, since in the review proceedings we set aside the order of the Commission, there is no fund upon which our equitable powers may operate.

Nor can there be any question that the legislature might specifically provide for disposition of the fund impounded under order of the court. It clearly might prescribe that rates fixed by the Commission

be not effective until the period for applying for a writ of review shall expire; or, if petition for such writ be made, until final disposition thereof by this court. There seems no reason, therefore, why it might not likewise prescribe that a fund collected upon compliance with a condition prescribed for a stay be released to the utility in case the order of the commission be set aside.

From what has been said it follows that the fund in question is the property of the plaintiff, and it is the duty of the Commission to take the necessary steps to release it. Let the peremptory writ issue as prayed. (Mt. States Tel. & Tel. v. Pub. Ser. Com'n., 155 P.2d 184)

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