1980

Committee of Consumer Services; Parowan Valley Pumpers association, Cedar Valley Pumpers association and Beryl Pumpers association; Enterprise Valley Pumpers, Inc. v. Public Service Commission of Utah; Milly O. Bernard, Chairman; Kenneth Rigtrup, Commissioner; and Pavid R. Irvine, Commissioner : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED THAT THE RATES IN EFFECT DURING THE TIME PERIOD IN DISPUTE WERE JUST AND REASONABLE RATES. THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND IT IS NOT THE PREROGATIVE OF THE COURT TO ORDER A CUSTOMER REFUND.

The Commission's first order became effective February 18, 1977. Rates fixed by that order were superceded by an order in a subsequent rate case which became effective May 23, 1978. The record in the first case consisted of hundreds of pages of testimony dealing with the issue of allocation of transmission expenses for rate-making purposes. On remand the Commission reopened the hearings and took additional testimony in May 1979. Testimony offered during the course of this hearing consumed more than 500 pages of testimony (see Transcript beginning at R102). After hearing all of the evidence the Public Service Commission made the following findings:

"The increase granted by the February 18 Order was fully justified, and the rates fixed by that order were just and reasonable rates." (R125)

Based upon this and other findings the order from which this appeal is taken provided:

"It is further ordered that the petition for refund filed on behalf of the Committee of Consumer Services is denied." (R126)

Appellants have failed to state in their brief any basis in fact for a finding that the rates placed in effect by the February 18 Order were not just and reasonable rates. Appellants make no argument that the Commission's finding is not supported by the

evidence.

The sole remedy sought by Appellants on this appeal is an order directing the Commission to order a customer refund for the effective period of the Commission's February 18 Order. It has long been recognized in this state that the rate-making function is a legislative function over which the Commission has exclusive jurisdiction. In a very recent decision the Utah Supreme Court considered the very issue which is presented by the Appellants in this case. In Utah Department of Business Regulation vs. Public Service Commission, Case No. 16241, opinion filed June 19, 1980, the majority opinion of the Court made it clear that it is not the prerogative of the courts to direct the Public Service Commission to order customer refunds. In that case the Appellant contended that the court should order all amounts collected under a certain rate order refunded to the consumers. Although reversing the order which established the rate, the court declined to order refunds and made it clear that it is the sole prerogative of the Commission to determine just and reasonable rates. The following quotation from the court's opinion shows the rationale for this conclusion:

"The division further urges this Court to declare the order of the P.S.C. invalid and void from its inception, and to order the amounts collected thereunder to be refunded. To undertake such a course would be tantamount to this Court engaging in rate-making, which is strictly a legislative power, for the P.S.C. in fixing and promulgating rates acts merely as an arm of the legislature. The review by this Court of the orders of the P.S.C. is confined to the legal issues of whether there is substantial evidence to sustain the findings of the P.S.C.; whether the P.S.C. has

exercised its authority according to law; and whether any constitutional rights of the complaining party have been invaded or disregarded. Any interference by this Court beyond the aforementioned limits would constitute an interference with the law making power of this state." (Pages 11-12) [Emphasis added]

In this case the Commission after extensive hearings has determined that the rates in effect were just and reasonable rates and there has been no challenge to these findings on this record. The court is without power to order refunds.

POINT II

WHEN A COMMISSION ORDER IS REVERSED AND REMANDED BY THE SUPREME COURT THE COMMISSION MAY ADD TO, MODIFY OR COMPLETE THE FINDINGS AND/OR ORDER.

The Supreme Court's remand directed the Commission as follows:

"As we are unable to correlate the findings with the Commission's Order we reverse and remand the case to the Commission to take such action, including further hearings, if necessary, as it deems advisable for the purpose of achieving a harmonious relationship between its findings and order." Parowan Pumpers Association v. Public Service Commission 586 P.2d 407, 409.

The Court's remand anticipated amendment of the findings and/or order to achieve "a harmonious relationship" between the two. The Rules of Civil Procedures (adopted by the Commission as part of its Rules of Practice) expressly contemplate the possibility of modification or addition to the findings on remand.

Rule 76, Utah Rules of Civil Procedures, provides:

"The Supreme Court may reverse, affirm, or modify any order or judgment appealed from, and may, in case the findings in any case are incomplete in any respect, order the Court from which the appeal

was taken to add to, modify or complete the findings so as to make the same conform to issues presented in the facts as the same may be found to be the trial court from the evidence, and may direct the trial court enter judgment in accordance with the findings when corrected as aforesaid, or may direct a new trial in any case or further proceedings to be had." [emphasis added] (Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedures, Rule 21.6)

The final sentence of the decision of the Supreme Court obviously intended to direct the Commission to make such change in the findings and/or order as would be necessary to achieve the "harmonious" relationship between the two. In doing so, the Court anticipated that the Commission could add to, modify or complete the findings and/or the order. The court did not direct that the order of the Commission be vacated. Cases decided under Rules 76A, URCP demonstrate a number of the options available to the Court on the first appeal. The Court could have affirmed the Commission's findings and order. Del Porto v. Nicolo, 27 Utah 2d 286, 495 P.2d 811 (1972); Doe vs. Doe 48 Utah 200, 158 P.781. It could have reversed and remanded without provisions for further hearings. Openshaw v. Young 107 Utah 399, 152 P.2d 84 (1944); Dunn vs. Wallingford, 47 Utah 491, 155 P.347. It could have reversed and remanded with specific directions. In particular, it could have required the Commission to conform the order to its findings. See, Utah State Road Commission vs. Steele Ranch, 533 P.2d 888 (Utah 1975); Hargrave vs. Leigh 73 Utah 178, 273 P.298. It could have reversed and ordered a new hearing. Taylor v. Sorenson 30 Utah

2d 275, 516 P.2d 1394 (1973); Greenhalgh vs. United Tintic Mines Company, 42 Utah 524, 132 P.390. Finally, the Supreme Court could have reversed and remanded with specific instructions to the Commission that it was to vacate either its findings and/or order and make findings of fact on all issues tendered by the petitioners. Barnes v. Kesler & Sons Const. Co., 549 P.2d 411; Utah Association of Creditmen vs. Homefire Insurance Company, 36 Utah 20, 102 P.631.

The Court in the Parowan Pumpers decision directed the Commission to harmonize the findings and order. This could be accomplished by amendment of either the findings or the order. The Commission's Supplemental Report and Order shows the Commission's rationale for the February 18 Order and reaffirms that rationale based on further evidence. It acknowledges the undisputed fact that new transmission was essential to continued service and explains why a portion of the expense for new transmission was disallowed. Conversely the order shows the factual basis for allowing recovery of a portion of the expense and the rationale for the allocation of the expense. Its findings with respect to the necessity for new transmission is not only consistent with but required by the evidence offered at the first hearing, which was unchanged by the later hearings. If anything, the formula for allocating the recovery of the expense disfavored the utility.

The evidence before the Commission indicated that the utility had incurred an annual expense in excess of \$800,000 for

the construction of a new transmission line which was essential to continued electric service to its customers. The new line was energized in August of 1976 and the utility commenced to incur and actually paid monthly expenses for the new line from and after that date. The Commission's order was not issued until approximately 6 1/2 months later, February 18, 1977. During this period of time the company received no reimbursement whatever for the expense. The Commission's order of February 18 allowed only 53.03% of the expense. From August 1976 to the present time the company had paid the entire transmission line expense to Utah Power & Light but has been able to recover only 53% of that expense from and after February 18, 1977. During the effective period of the order (February 18, 1977 to May 23, 1978), the company's overall rate of return on its investment was in the range of 4%.

The Findings of the February 18 Order as supplemented by those of the Supplemental Order are in complete harmony with the ordering provisions of the February 18 Order and these Findings are supported by substantial evidence.

POINT III

WHEN A RATE IS FIXED BY THE COMMISSION AND HAS NOT BEEN SUSPENDED DURING THE PENDENCY OF AN APPEAL NO REFUND CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE UTILITY COMPANY

The rates approved by the Report and Order in this case became effective when the Commission entered an order on February 18, 1977. Although there is a statutory provision for suspension

of rates pending an appeal (Section 54-7-17, UCA 1953), no suspension order was sought or entered. The rates thereafter charged by CPN were in accordance with the Commission's Order. CPN was required to charge those rates as long as the order of the Commission remained in effect.

The general rule of law is that where a rate fixed by the Commission has not been suspended during the pendency of an appeal and the Commission's Order is ultimately vacated or set aside as unreasonable no refund can be obtained from the utility. Thus, even if the February 18 Order had been vacated, no refund may be allowed.

In Keco Industries, Inc. v. The Cincinnati & Suburban Bell Tel. Co. (Ohio), 141 N.E.2d 465, telephone subscribers sought a refund for the difference between the original rate and an increased rate under a Public Utilities Commission Order which was subsequently held unreasonable and unlawful. In denying the right to recover a refund the Supreme Court of Ohio said:

(141 N.E.2d 465, 568-469)

"In the present case we have rates which were established by the properly designated authority after a hearing and consideration in full compliance with the law, and until such time as they were set aside by the Supreme Court, they were, in the absence of a stay, the lawful rates and the only ones which could be collected by the utility.

. . . .

"From the above consideration it is our conclusion that the rates of a public utility on Ohio are subject to a general statutory plan of regulation

and collection; that any rates set by the Public Utilities Commission are the lawful rates until such time as they are set aside as being unreasonable and unlawful by the Supreme Court; and that the General Assembly, by providing a method whereby such rates may be suspended until final determination as to their reasonableness or lawfulness by the Supreme Court, has completely abrogated the common-law remedy of restitution in such cases."

In Mandel Brothers, Inc. vs. Chicago Tunnel Terminal Co. (Illinois), 117 N.E. 2d 774, the Illinois Supreme Court denied refunds in a similar case holding:

(117 N.E. 2d 774, 775)

"The fundamental issue in this case is whether a rate which has been approved by the Commerce Commission after a hearing as to its reasonableness can be termed an 'excessive' rate for the purpose of awarding reparations. We hold that it cannot, even though the rate approved by the commission has subsequently been set aside upon judicial review.

"* * * 'Where the charges collected by the carrier were based upon rates which had theretofore been established or approved by the public authority, the fact that such rates are subsequently reduced afford no right of action for damages or for the recovery of the difference between the old and new rates upon the ground that the prior rate was unreasonable, unless such right is conferred by the governing statute, as is held to be the case in some jurisdictions.'"

In Foshee vs. General Telephone Co. of the Southeast (Alabama), 322 So.2d 715, the Alabama Supreme Court in denying the right to refund held:

(322 So.2d 715, 717)

"Code of Ala., Tit 48, §§104, 144, establishes That there can be but one lawful rate. Moreover under these statutes a regulated public utility can charge only the rate established by the APSC. Until the APSC on remand modified their rate schedule pursuant to order of the circuit court, General Telephone could charge and collect no other rate except that established by the APSC in its order of

30 October 1972. Hence it is clear that General Telephone is under no legal or equitable obligation to refund any money to their subscribers since it did only what it was required to do by statute."

See also State vs. Alabama Public Service Commission (Alabama) 307 So.2d 521, where the Court holds that no refund can be made unless the rate is suspended and explains the rationale for the rule.

A similar situation was presented in Straube vs. Bowling Green Gas Co. (Missouri), 227 S.W.2d 666, where customers of a gas company sought to recover a refund which had been made to the gas company by its gas supplier. The gas rates of the utility were reduced in consequence of a reduction in purchased gas expense but the customers sought recovery from the utility for a prior period covered by the gas expense refund. In denying recovery, the Missouri Supreme Court said:

(227 S.W.2d 666, 671)

"When the established rate of a utility has been followed, the amount so collected becomes the property of the utility of which it cannot be deprived by either legislative or judicial action without violating the due process provisions of the State and Federal Constitutions."

The general rule is summarized in 9 Am Jur 542, § 175:

"Where the charges collected by the carrier were based upon rates which had theretofore been established or approved by the public authority, the fact that such rates are subsequently reduced afford no right of action for damages or for the recovery of the difference between the old and new rates upon the ground that the prior rate was unreasonable, unless such right is conferred by the governing statute, as is held to be the case in some jurisdictions."

The Utah statutes are substantially the same as those construed in the cases above-cited. Under Section 54-7-17, U.C.A., 1953, the pendency of the appeal does not stay the order, but any party may apply to the Court for a suspension Order suspending the rates under the Commission's Report and Order during the pendency of the appeal. This was not done.

POINT IV

SECTION 54-7-17 UCA 1953 DOES NOT REQUIRE OR PERMIT A REFUND IN THIS CASE.

Appellant argues that 54-7-17 (4) provides a mechanism for an automatic refund. From this discordant premise Appellant seeks to have the Supreme Court reverse the Commission and order a refund. This interpretation misreads section 54-7-17. This section of the code is divided into four subsections.

54-7-17(1) reads:

"The pendency of a writ of review shall not of itself stay or suspend the operation of the order or decision of the commission, but during the pendency of such writ the Supreme Court in its discretion may stay or suspend, in whole or in part, the operation of the commission's order or decision."

The first subsection establishes the option for the Supreme Court to stay or suspend an order of the Commission pending an appeal.

54-7-17(2) reads:

"No order so staying or suspending an order or decision of the commission shall be made by the Supreme Court otherwise than upon three days' notice and after hearing, and if the order or decision of the commission is suspended, the order suspending the same shall contain a specific finding, based upon evidence

submitted to the court and identified by reference thereto, that great or irreparable damage would otherwise result to the petitioner, and specifying the nature of the damage."

The second subsection establishes the requirement of a hearing with advance written notice to the parties to be held before any stay or suspension can be granted.

The third subsection, §54-7-17(3), specifies that in the event a stay or suspension is granted a suspending bond must be posted and in certain circumstances the utility is required to deposit revenues with the court to insure the availability of refund monies if the order on appeal is reversed.

54-7-17(4) provides:

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